W00A

pd?
FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 18 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Official Deputy Clerk

JAMES HEUSS,
 Petitioner,
vs.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
 Respondent.

Case No. 86,544

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

IAN SELDIN
Assistant Public Defender
Attorney for James Heuss
Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor
421 3rd Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600
Florida Bar No. 604038

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellant/Defendant and Respondent was the Appellee/Prosecution in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in the for Broward County, Florida, respectively.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as the appear before this Court.

The symbol "R" will denote Record on Appeal.

The symbol "SR" will denote First Supplemental Record on Appeal.

The symbol "SRR" will denote Second Supplemental Record on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 10, 1990, the State charged Petitioner by information with sexual battery on a child, ██████████ ("Child A"), by causing his tongue to penetrate with or unite with her vagina, (Count I); sexual battery on a child, ██████████ ("Child B"), by causing his finger to penetrate her vagina (Count II); and lewd assault on a child, ██████████ ("Child C"), by touching her in the vaginal area (Count III). R. 731-2. These crimes were alleged to have occurred between June 1 and December 24, 1989. R 731-2.

On June 13, 1991, a pretrial hearing was held before the initial trial judge, Judge Frusciante, on admitting hearsay statements by the children. SR. 1-114. At this hearing, the state elicited testimony from Cynthia (also known as Cindy) ██████████ Child A's mother (SR. 24- 47), John ██████████ Child C's father (SR. 53-9) and Broward County Sheriff's Office Detective Thomas Masching. SR. 66-73. The specific child hearsay statements which the State sought to admit through these witnesses were (1) statements made by Child A to Cindy ██████████ and (2) audio tape recorded interviews between Masching and Child A, Child B and Child C. SR. 93-4. Over Petitioner's objection, the trial court granted the State's motion and admitted the child hearsay testimony of Cindy ██████████ and the tape statements of the three children elicited by Detective Masching. SR. 87, 91-2. From June 14 to June 26, 1991, the cause was tried to a jury; a mistrial was declared when the jury deadlocked.

On September 24, 1991, the trial court, Judge Backman the successor judge to Judge Frusciante, held a hearing, outside the presence of the jury, during the second trial, as to the admissibility of hearsay statement of Child A, Child B and Child C, to be elicited through the testimony of Deputy Sheriff Hibbert. SRR. 1-57. Over Petitioner's

objection, the trial court ruled the Hibbert's child hearsay testimony admissible. SRR. 13-4. The second trial was also mistried. R. 789.

A third trial was begun December 9, 1991 before Judge Backman. On December 12, 1991, the jury convicted Mr, Heuss as charged. R 689, 793-5. The court adjudicated Mr. Heuss as to all three counts. R 693.

The court on February 7, 1992 the trial court sentenced Mr, Heuss to two sentences of life without possibility for parole for twenty-five years and fifteen years in prison, all sentences to run consecutively. R 714-51 810-8. On April 3, 1992, the court denied motions for judgment of acquittal and a new trial which had been filed December 20, 1991. R 800-8, 843-4, SR. 305-6. Thereafter, Petitioner timely filed his notice of appeal. R 837.

In his appeal, Petitioner raised, inter alia, the following issues: (1) The trial court erred when it admitted the testimony of three witnesses who related hearsay statements of the three child-victims; (2) The evidence of sexual battery as to Child A (Count I) and Child B (Count II) was insufficient as a matter of law; and (3) The trial court erred by allowing the State's expert to testify as to the truthfulness of the child-victims' testimony and to comment on their credibility as witnesses.

On March 15, 1995, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered its initial opinion in Petitioner's Appeal. Heuss v. State, 660 So. 2d 1052 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). As to the first issue, the admissibility of the testimony of the three child hearsay witnesses, the Fourth District, citing Hopkins v. State, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1377 (Fla. 1994), agreed with Petitioner and found that the trial court, by merely tracking the provisions of §90.803(23)(c), the child-hearsay exception, had made insufficient, "boilerplate" findings that the hearsay evidence was reliable and trustworthy. While the Fourth District held that this hearsay evidence was erroneously admitted, it went on,

pursuant to Hopkins, supra, to determine whether the principle of harmless error applied to the erroneously admitted hearsay evidence. Upon its harmless error analysis, the Fourth District held that this error was harmless because: (1) The impermissible testimony was cumulative of the properly admitted evidence; (2) the child-victims' in court testimony and their published taped interviews¹ provided sufficient competent evidence to make a prima facie case of sexual abuse; and (3) the testimony of Nurse Nelson concerning the tear to Child B's hymenal membrane buttressed that victim's in-court testimony.

Concerning the issue of whether, as a matter of law, the State sufficiently proved as to Count I (sexual battery upon Child A), the Fourth District held that Child A's in-court testimony, together with her taped interview,² provided sufficient, competent evidence to support Appellant's conviction for unlawful union with the child-victim's "private part." Additionally, the Fourth District cited to Child B's taped statement³ and the circumstantial evidence regarding her hymenal membrane tear to hold that the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal.

Finally, the Fourth District held that there was no error in the admission of the expert opinion concerning the characteristics of a child-victim's testimony regarding their sexual abuse. It found no error because the expert did not testify as to the truthfulness or the credibility of the three child-victims or their respective testimony.

¹ It is unclear how or why the Fourth District distinguished Detective Masching's out-of-court tape recorded interviews with the three child-victims from the rest of the erroneously admitted child-hearsay evidence.

² Ibid.

³ Ibid.

Upon rendition of the Fourth District's initial opinion, Petitioner moved for rehearing. In his motion, Petitioner pointed out that the Fourth District had used a harmless error analysis in affirming his conviction, despite the fact that the Respondent failed to assert a harmless error argument in its brief to the court, and argued that it lacked the authority to do so. The Fourth District, in granting Petitioner's rehearing motion, Heuss, supra at 1058, acknowledged that while it engaged in a harmless error review sua sponte, it discerned no legal authority or public policy which prohibited such a practice and held that it had the discretion to sua sponte affirm on the ground that an error was harmless.

After the Fourth District rendered its rehearing opinion, Petitioner petitioned this Court upon its discretionary, "conflict" jurisdiction. This Court accepted jurisdiction over the instant cause on January 16, 1996.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, James Heuss, after his case was mistried on two previous occasions,⁴ was convicted in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida, for sexual battery on two children (Count I, as to "Child A,"⁵ and Count II, as to "Child B"⁶) and for lewd assault on a third child (Count III, as to "Child C"⁷).

The allegations against Petitioner first arose when the fiancé⁸ of Child A's mother⁹ informed her that Child A had performed oral sex on her younger brother.¹⁰ When Child A's mother confronted Child A, Child A explained that she had learned the act from Petitioner when he had done the same thing to her. Thereafter, Child A's mother discussed her daughter's allegation with two of her sisters, the mothers of Child B¹¹ and

⁴ The first mistrial occurred as a result of a hung jury. R. 739-761. The second mistrial occurred before the case was submitted to the jury. R. 789.

⁵ [REDACTED]

⁶ [REDACTED]

⁷ [REDACTED]

⁸ Calvin [REDACTED] who was also Child A's biological father.

⁹ Cynthia (also known as "Cindy") [REDACTED]

¹⁰ [REDACTED]

¹¹ Caroline [REDACTED]

Child C.¹² Then, Child A's mother spoke to two of her nieces, Child B and Child C. Child B said that Petitioner had touched her privates between her legs with his fingers and that it had hurt. Child C stated that Petitioner had touched her bottom and between her legs while she remained fully clothed.

The parents of the three children complained to the Sheriff's Office. The parents told the responding deputy sheriff¹³ that Petitioner had babysat all of their children over a six (6) month period, from June through December 1989. Thereafter, the deputy interviewed each child out of the presence of the other two children. At trial, the deputy testified that Child A told him that Petitioner put his mouth in her private area and she felt his tongue touching her private area. Child B stated that Petitioner penetrated her private parts with his finger and at on one occasion showed her his penis. Child C told him that Petitioner touched her buttocks and her private area while she was fully dressed.

A few days after the first deputies had met with and had spoken to the three children, another sheriff's deputy¹⁴ conducted audio taped interviews with them. These interviews were published to the jury and included the following information: (1) That Child A stated that Petitioner had taken her into the bedroom of his apartment, laid her down on the carpet, removed her clothing and placed his tongue in her vagina; (2) That Child B stated that Petitioner had placed one of his fingers within her vagina at least five times and when he would stick it in, it would hurt; and (3) That Child C stated that

¹² Susan [REDACTED]

¹³ Deputy Sheriff Alcibiades Hibbert.

¹⁴ Detective Thomas Masching.

Petitioner had touched her numerous times between the legs, an area she referred to as her "privates," and had patted her buttocks on several occasions.

At trial, all three children testified. Child A stated that while she did not know the number of times she had been to Petitioner's apartment, once while she was there, she had gone to use the bathroom. Petitioner, accompanying her to the bathroom, closed the door, laid her down on the a floor rug, pulled her pants down and "licked [her] private," located between her legs, two times. On cross-examination, Child A admitted that her deposition testimony was inconsistent with her trial testimony. Then, on redirect-examination, she reaffirmed her intent to tell the truth and reiterated her direct-examination testimony.

Child B testified that she slept in Petitioner's waterbed once or twice during the night and that Petitioner also slept in the bed. While in bed, Child B stated that Petitioner touched her between the legs with his fingers and that it made her "uncomfortable." She also stated that the first time this occurred, Petitioner made her promise not to tell her mother. Child B went on to testify that despite this promise, she was going to call her mother, but she failed to do so, because Petitioner would not allow her out of his room.

Child C stated that Petitioner touched her between her legs while she had her clothes on. On cross-examination, Petitioner revealed that during her deposition, Child C denied that appellant had ever touched her. Additionally, while it was disclosed that Child C's father¹⁵ had reviewed her deposition testimony with her prior to trial, he denied that he had ever suggested how she ought to answer any question asked of her at trial.

¹⁵ John [REDACTED]

The nurse¹⁶ who examined all three children testified as to the results of her examination. The nurse found a tear in Child B's hymenal membrane at the one o'clock position. While she stated that the tear was consistent with a finger touching a hymen and that it was very unlikely that a child, herself, would independently touch her own hymen to cause it to tear, due to the amount of pain such a touching would cause, she also did not observe any other physical trauma and could not conclusively state how the tear occurred or whether that tear was evidence of child abuse. She could only testify that the tear appeared "suspicious." Additionally, the nurse testified that there was no evidence of any trauma to Child A's and Child C's genitalia.

The State also elicited expert testimony¹⁷ regarding the characteristics of a child-victim's testimony regarding sexual abuse and the reasons why a child may recant a sexual abuse allegation. The expert also testified about what appropriate child-victim interviewing techniques were and the effects of repeated and leading questions on a child's perception of the events.

Petitioner testified in his own defense. Although he denied the allegations, the jury found him guilty as charged in all three counts.

¹⁶ Mary Alice Nelson.

¹⁷ Dr. Dennison Reed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Point I:

The Fourth District erred in holding that an appellate court has the discretion to engage in sua sponte harmless error review when the State fails to address the harmless error issue in its brief or argument to the court. The concept of sua sponte harmless error review is contrary to this Court's rulings in State v. DiGuilio, Ciccarelli v. State, and State v. Lee, which maintain that the burden is on the State, as beneficiary of the trial error, to prove that the error harmlessly affected the jury's verdict, beyond a reasonable doubt and that where the State fails to address an error's alleged harmlessness, the issue is waived and not reviewable by appellate courts. Moreover, sua sponte harmless error review diminishes the neutrality of appellate courts and denies appealing defendants due process of law.

Point II:

The Fourth District's sua sponte harmless error analysis as to erroneously admitted child-hearsay was flawed because it used an incorrect prima facie case of guilt standard of harmlessness review; it incorrectly characterized repetitive evidence, which only served to improperly bolster the child-victims' credibility, as harmlessly cumulative; and it erroneously considered impertinent medical evidence as corroborative. Consequently, the error in admitting this evidence was not harmful.

Point III

The Fourth District erred in affirming the trial court's denial of Petitioner's judgment of acquittal motions, as to Counts I and II. The State failed to elicit any evidence which proved that Petitioner committed a sexual battery on Child B, by penetrating her vagina with his finger or on Child A, by uniting or penetrating her vagina with his tongue. Additionally, the evidence which the Fourth District points to in finding

that the State's proof was sufficient to overcome a judgment of acquittal motion as to Counts I and II was child-hearsay evidence it had also ruled had been erroneously admitted, making the erroneous admission of that evidence harmful error

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AN APPELLATE COURT MAY SUA SPONTE DETERMINE AN ERROR HARMLESS WHERE THE STATE FAILS TO ALLEGE, ARGUE AND PROVE HARMLESS ERROR.

In Cicarelli v. State, 531 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1988) this Court held that, "if the state has not presented a prima facie case of harmlessness in its argument, the [appellate] court need go further." Id. at 131. The Fourth District interpreted this passage to mean that an appellate court may, at its option, sua sponte consider error harmless, absent the State raising, arguing and proving an error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In Cicarelli, supra, this Court insisted that the State shoulder and sustain the burden of proving harmless error and, in accord with State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1138-9 (Fla. 1986), held that the harmless error test places the burden on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. Id. at 130-131.

The Fourth District's instant decision, Heuss v. State, supra at 1058, expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the First District, which, pursuant to Cicarrelli and DiGuilio, hold that where the State fails to address that an error was not harmful beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court either "cannot" or is "unable" to consider and deem the complained of error as being harmless and reversal is required. Johnson v. State, 595 So. 2d 132, 135-6 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (holding that where error is present, the burden is on the State to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error was harmless and when the State fails to argue harmless error the appellate court "cannot" view the complained of error as harmless); Perkins v. State, 585 So. 2d 390, 392 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (holding that an appellate court is "unable" to view error harmless where

the state fails to argue harmless error, but only contends that there was no error); Taylor v. State, 557 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (holding that where the State fails to argue harmless error, it fails to carry its burden of proof and an appellate court is "unable" to view the error as harmless).

The Fourth District, in holding that the erroneous admission of the three child-victims' hearsay statement was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, apparently overlooked the fact that Respondent, within its Answer Brief,¹⁸ failed to raise and/or argue that any erroneous admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt (See Appendix A, Answer Brief of Respondent/Appellee at 12-22). But more importantly, Respondent's failure must be viewed in light of the fact that Petitioner addressed the issue of the error's harmfulness in his initial brief to the Fourth District Court of Appeal (See Appendix B, Initial Brief of Petitioner/Appellant at 24). Consequently, the Fourth District's sua sponte harmless error review was most inappropriate when Respondent, being offered a direct opportunity to contest the harmlessness of the erroneous admitted child-hearsay, failed to do so, thereby waiving the issue.

Inasmuch as the State is the beneficiary of the error, as with a beneficial constitutional right, it can, by not sustaining its burden of proof, waive the issue of its harmlessness upon the jury's verdict on appeal. See, e.g. Patsy v. Board of Regents, 457 U.S. 496, 515 n 19, 102 S.Ct. 2557, 2567 n 19, 73 L.Ed.2d 172 (1982). Moreover, when an appellate litigant failed to raise critical, beneficial issues at the district court level, this Court deemed such issues waived and refused to permit further argument. Landmark First National Bank v. Gepetto's Tale O'The Whale, 498 So. 2d 920, 921-2 (Fla. 1986); see also Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Goodman, 276 So. 2d 465,

¹⁸ No oral argument was held before the Fourth District in the instant appeal.

466 (Fla. 1972). In criminal appellate proceedings, this Court has adjudged an issue "abandoned and any legal defect waived," when a petitioner had failed to address an issue which had been raised by the State in its brief for district court review. D.C.W. v. State, 445 So. 2d 333, 335 (Fla. 1984). Yet, while D.C.W. involved a criminal defendant waiving an appellate issue, procedural default rules can apply equally to the State as well as the accused. Cannady v. State, 620 So. 2d 165, 170 (Fla. 1993). Issues not raised on appeal are not to be reviewed. State v. Dupree, 656 So. 2d 430, 432 (Fla. 1995). Additionally, where the State fails to brief the issue of a procedural bar in answer to an appellant's issue of error, the State's reliance on the procedural bar is deemed waived and it cannot then address it for the first time in its motion for rehearing or claim that its previous failure to contest was merely an oversight. Thomas v. State, 599 So. 2d 158, 161 n. 1 (Fla 1st DCA 1992). Further, the State waives the issue of a criminal defendant's standing to suppress evidence for appellate review when it fails to raise it on appeal, no matter how obvious the defendant's lack of standing appears to be from the trial record. See Brown v. State, 636 So. 2d 174, 175 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) citing State v. Wells, 539 So. 2d 464, 468 n.4 (Fla. 1989), affirmed, Florida v. Wells, 495 U.S. 1, 110 S. Ct. 1632, 109 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1990).

No where in Respondent's answer brief to the Fourth District is the issue of harmlessness of the erroneous admission of the child-hearsay argued, let alone even mentioned (See Appendix A, 15-22). Not until Respondent replied in opposition to Petitioner's rehearing motion before the Fourth District did the State attempt to address the alleged harmlessness of the erroneously admitted child-hearsay (See Appendix C, Respondent/Appellee's Response to Petitioner/Appellant's Motion for Rehearing, ¶¶ 8-13). As previously stated, where an appellate litigant has waived a beneficial issue by failing to address it in its initial briefs to a reviewing court, it cannot undo or vitiate that

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