WOOD A

ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,544

JAMES HEUSS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FILED

STD J. WHITE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Attorney General

MAY 15 1996 By

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Bureau Chief Senior Assistant Attorney General

SARAH B. MAYER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 367893 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., Ste 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I

The opinion of the Fourth District, that an appellate court may, in its discretion, *sua sponte* apply a harmless error analysis in a case where the State has failed to make such an argument, must be affirmed because the Legislature has directed appellate courts to make such an analysis. To do so would not deprive a defendant/appellant, who has the burden of showing harmful error, of due process. Moreover, the State, unlike a defendant, has no remedy for ineffective assistance of appellate coursel.

POINT II

The trial court conducted two hearings, heard the proffered testimony, and announced its reasons for finding the statements to be reliable. While the trial court's findings may not have been as thorough as they could have been, the record in this case establishes that the trial court did consider the statutory factors in depth and properly found the victims' statements to be reliable. As found by the district court, the record establishes that the victims' taped statements given to Detective Masching were reliable and that the trial court's failure to make more specific findings with respect to these statements was harmless. Thus, those statements were properly admitted into evidence. As for the other

hearsay statements, they were merely cumulative to the properly admitted taped statements and the in-court testimony. Thus, based on the permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied to convict Petitioner, there is no reasonable possibility that had these statements not been admitted the verdict would have been different. Consequently, this Court should affirm the district court's findings.

POINT III

The district court properly affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal as to counts I and II. Child B's trial testimony, corroborated by the physical evidence and her taped statement, established a prima facie case of sexual battery by digital penetration. Similarly, from the evidence adduced at trial below, the jury could reasonably infer that Petitioner made contact between his mouth and the sexual organ of Child A, thereby establishing a prima facie case of sexual battery. Consequently, this Court should affirm the district court's findings and Petitioner's convictions as to counts I and II.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT AN APPELLATE COURT MAY SUA SPONTE DETERMINE AN ERROR HARMLESS.

Petitioner asserts that the district court erred in holding that it could *sua sponte* apply a harmless error analysis. Specifically, Petitioner contends that where the State has failed to argue harmless error, the State has waived that argument and/or can be deemed to have conceded that the purported error is not harmless. In addition, Petitioner contends that *sua sponte* application of a harmless error analysis results in a district court losing its position of neutrality. Finally, he contends that *sua sponte* application of harmless error analysis deprives a defendant of due process of law. Respondent submits that in light of the clear legislative directive to appellate courts to affirm valid convictions unless harmful error has occurred, the Fourth District correctly held that an appellate court may *sua sponte* apply a harmless error analysis.

Initially, Petitioner argues that because the State has the burden of proving harmless error, if the State fails to argue that an error is harmless, the State should be deemed to have waived that argument and/or conceded that the purported error is harmful.

The State does not dispute that it has the burden of presenting a prima facie case of harmlessness, and of proving that beyond a reasonable doubt, the error did not contribute to the verdict. State v. Schopp, 653 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1995); Ciccarelli v. State, 531 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1988); State v. Lee, 531 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1988); State v. Diguilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Certainly, the State should present a harmless error argument each time it believes that a purported error did not affect the verdict.¹ However, in circumstances where the State's counsel has overlooked or unartfully presented a harmless error argument, and where the appellate court's review of the case convinces that court that the error is harmless, the appellate court should not be precluded from finding the error harmless. This is so because sections 59.041 and 924.33, Fla. Stats., require appellate courts to affirm convictions where no harmful error has occurred.

Moreover, because the State, unlike a defendant, has no remedy for ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the State submits that the failure to raise a harmless error argument should not be

¹ Respondent does not concede that it wholly failed to make a harmless error argument below, see Point II, *infra*. However, asserting that the argument was made would not further the State's position with respect to this point on appeal, i.e., that an appellate court may *sua sponte* apply a harmless error analysis.

deemed to be a waiver or concession of that issue, such that an appellate court is prohibited from affirming a conviction which the court finds has not been obtained in violation of a defendant's right to a fair trial or by harmful error. Indeed, such a holding would grant Petitioner a windfall he is not legally entitled to, as well as be directly contrary to section 924.33, which states, "It shall not be presumed that error injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant." <u>See also DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d at 1134.

Petitioner cites numerous cases which hold that parties to an appeal may waive issues for appellate review either by failing to raise it in the trial court, or by failing to argue the issue on appeal, or both. Respondent does not dispute that this is the general rule. However, in criminal cases, the "stakes" are higher than in civil cases. Thus, if a criminal defendant's lawyer fails to preserve an issue in the trial court, or make an argument in the appellate court, the defendant has the right to pursue an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Yet if the State's counsel fails to raise a harmless error argument, the state has no such remedy. Respondent submits that sections 59.041 and 924.33 were enacted, in part, to insure that, notwithstanding poor or deficient performance by the State's appellate counsel, valid

convictions are not reversed absent harmful error. Furthermore, there are no statutes, except the harmless error statutes, which require an appellate court to consider a specific issue. Thus, Respondent submits that the doctrine of waiver cannot be applied to harmless error arguments.

In <u>DiGuilio</u>, this Court recognized the authority of the legislature to enact harmless error statutes:

The responsible branch of government has already established the public policy through section 924.33 that appellate courts will not reverse trial court judgements unless it is determined on the record that harmful error has occurred. This legislative determination of public policy is not constitutionally infirm. Accordingly,

> [0] ur responsibility as an appellate court is to apply the law as the Legislature has so clearly announced it. We are not endowed with the privilege of doing otherwise regardless of the view which we might have an [sic] individuals.

491 So. 2d at 1137 (quoting <u>Gordon v. State</u>, 104 So. 2d 524, 541 (Fla. 1958).

As sections 59.041 and 924.33 are valid statutes, in order for the legislative intent of those statutes to be carried out, appellate courts must be free to apply a harmless error analysis, whether counsel for the State has made such an argument or not.

While the failure of the State's counsel to make a harmless error argument is poor practice, it should not be a **barrier** to an appellate court's complete review of a case and compliance with sections 59.041 and 924.33. As noted by this Court in Ciccarelli, while appellate briefs are essential to focus the court's attention on the issues involved, it is the judge who has the ultimate responsibility of a decision, and that decision must appropriately be left to the conscience of each individual judge. 531 So. 2d at 132. Clearly, this Court has repeatedly held that the decision to apply a harmless error analysis in the absence of such an argument by the State is a discretionary matter for appellate court judges. Thus, Petitioner's argument that a harmless error analysis cannot be employed by an appellate court in the absence of a harmless error argument by the State is without merit. Schopp, 653 So. 2d at 1020; Lee, 531 So. 2d at n.1; DiGuilio 491 So. 2d at 1131, 1134, 1137. See also United State v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 509, 103 S. Ct. 1974, 76 L. Ed. 2d 96 (1983).

Petitioner additionally argues that *sua sponte* application of a harmless error analysis results in a district court losing its position of neutrality. Simply because an appellate court has decided an issue in favor of one party or another does not mean that court has lost its neutrality. Rather, in making a harmless

error analysis of a case, the appellate court is simply performing its legislatively mandated duties under sections 59.041 and 924.33. This argument is supported by the fact that in reviewing any case in its appellate capacity, appellate courts are not allowed to reweigh the evidence or supply findings not made by the trial court, but instead must employ and apply well-defined standards of review. This Court has repeatedly cautioned appellate courts to conduct an **independent** review of the record in making its harmless error analysis.² Thus, it does not seem logical that an appellate court would somehow become an advocate for the State simply by performing an analysis which the Florida Legislature has directed it to consider. If appellate courts are directed to make an independent review of the record in determining whether an error is harmless or not, there is no reason to believe they would be less neutral in reviewing the record in the absence of a harmless error argument by the State than they would if the State had properly made such an argument. Indeed, it would seem that an appellate court might well be more inclined to the defendant's position, not only because the defendant will have presented an argument as to why an error is harmful, but also because the appellate court is

² <u>Ciccarelli</u>, <u>supra</u>.

dissatisfied with the State for failing to fulfill its burden. Thus, Respondent submits that this argument is also without merit.

Finally, Petitioner argues that sua sponte application of a harmless error analysis deprives a defendant of due process of law. Specifically, Petitioner argues that sua sponte application of a harmless error analysis deprives him of notice and an opportunity to argue that the error is harmful. Respondent cannot conceive of a circumstance in which defense counsel would argue that error occurred without also arguing that the error was harmful, except perhaps where the particular error is per se harmful, reversible It is well established that a criminal conviction comes to error. an appellate court with a presumption of correctness and that an appellant has the burden of establishing that harmful error occurred in the trial court. Indeed, if an appellant cannot argue that the cited error has harmed him in some way, there would be no reason to raise it on appeal, and if his counsel fails to argue that an error is harmful when such an argument can be made in good faith, then his counsel is open to a claim of ineffectiveness. Moreover, appellants are on notice that an appellate court may employ a harmless error analysis because Florida Statutes direct appellate courts to do so. Undoubtedly, an appellant will have argued that an error is harmful in his initial brief; thus,

Petitioner's argument that *sua sponte* application of a harmless error will deprive him of an opportunity to address that issue cannot be sustained.

Respondent submits that there is no public policy which can be served by prohibiting an appellate court from *sua sponte* applying a harmless error analysis in cases before the court, particularly in light of the directives of sections 59.041 and 924.33, Fla. Stats., and the fact that the State has no remedy for ineffective assistance of its appellate counsel. Thus, the Fourth District's opinion below is correct and must be affirmed.

POINT II

THE ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF CHILD-HEARSAY IS SUBJECT TO A HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS WHICH WAS PROPERLY APPLIED BY THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT CASE.

Petitioner contends that even if an appellate court can employ a *sua sponte* harmless error analysis, the Fourth District's determination that admission of the victims' out-of-court statements was harmless error was incorrect. Respondent submits that the Fourth District's opinion, while perhaps unartfully worded, was correct.

Initially, the Fourth District found that the trial court erred by making only "boiler plate" findings with respect to the reliability of the child-victims' out-of-court statements. <u>Heuss</u> <u>v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 1052, 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). However, in accordance with this Court's decision in <u>Hopkins v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1994), the district court further held that the failure to make adequate findings pursuant to section 90.803(23) was subject to a harmless error analysis. 660 So. 2d at 1057. Petitioner asserts that in determining whether the error was harmless, this Court should determine whether admission of the victims' hearsay statements could have affected the verdict. Assuming for the moment that the trial court's findings were

inadequate, Respondent submits that the analysis which was employed by the district court, and the analysis which should be employed, is actually a two-fold inquiry. Initially, this Court should determine whether the trial court's failure to make findings was harmless because the record establishes that the time, content and circumstances of the victims' statements provide sufficient safeguards of reliability. If not, then this Court should proceed to determine, after a review of all the properly admitted evidence, whether beyond a reasonable doubt admission of these statements did not affect the verdict. Here, the district court found that the victims' taped statements were properly admitted, notwithstanding the trial court's "inadequate findings," and that the remainder of the out-of-court statements was harmless in light of the properly admitted evidence.

Section 90.803(23), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1991), allows into evidence hearsay statements made by children under the age of 11 which describe acts of sexual abuse if the trial court finds that the time, contents, and circumstances of the statements provide sufficient safeguards of reliability. Factors a court may examine in determining the reliability of these statements include

> the mental and physical age and maturity of the child, the nature and duration of the abuse or offense, the relationship of the

child to the offender, the reliability of the assertion, the reliability of the child victim, and any other factor deemed appropriate; . . .

§ 90.803(23)(a)(1), Fla. Stat. (1991). See also Perez v. State, 536 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 492 U.S. 923 (1989). While the statute requires the trial court to make specific findings of fact concerning the reliability of the hearsay statements, there is no requirement, statutory or decisional, which requires the trial court to recite each factor and the evidence the trial court believes supports each factor. Indeed, there is no requirement that each factor set forth in the statute be met before the hearsay is admitted into evidence. Perez, 536 So. 2d at 210. Rather, it is sufficient that the trial court conduct a hearing, hear the proffered testimony, and announce its reasons for finding the statements to be reliable. Myles v. State, 582 So. 2d 71, 72-73 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991); Woodfin v. State, 553 So. 2d 1355, 1356 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Stone v. State, 547 So. 2d 657, 660 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989). See also Glendening v. State, 503 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987), affirmed, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988); Cook v. State, 531 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Respondent submits that while the trial court's findings may not have been as thorough as they could have been, the record in this case establishes that the trial court

did consider the statutory factors in depth and properly found the victims' statements to be reliable.

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